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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FORTHE Tl X
EASTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS

SHERMAN DIVISION By
Federal Trade Commission, ) B
- ) ) ) ) .
Plaintiff, )  CaseNo. L/ 0L eviY
) |
\J ) -
‘ )
Certified Merchant Services, Ltd., )
_ )
Certified Merchant GP, Inc., )  TEMPORARY RESTRAINING
: ) ORDER
Certified Merchant Services, Inc., )
)
Jonathan Frankel, )
)
Craig Frankel, and )
)
Randal A. Best, )
)
Defendants. )
) .

Plaintiff, the Federal Trade Commission ("Commission" or “FTC”), having filed its
Complaint for a permanent injunction and other relief in this matter, pursuant to Section 13(b) of
- the Federal Trade Commission Act ("FTC Abt"), 15 U.S.C. § 53(b), and having applied ex parte
for a temporary restraining order and for an order to show cause why a preliminary injunction
should not be granted pursuant to Rule 65(b) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, and the
Court having considered the complaint, declara;ions, exhibits, memoranda of iaw and any

argument of counsel of the parties, finds that:



L. This Court has jurisdiction over the suhject matter of this case, and there is good
cause to believe it will have jurisdiction of all parties hereto, pursuant to 15 U. S C. §§ 45 (a) and
53(b), and 28 US.C. §§ 1331 1337(a) and 1345. The Complamt states a claim upon which
relief may be granted under Sections 5 and 13(b) of the FTC Act, 15 US.C. §§ 45 and 53(b).

o2 There is good cause to believe that Defendants have engaged and are likely to
engage in acts or practices consututmg violations of Sectlon 5(a) of the FTC Act, as amended, 15
- US.C. § 45(a), and that the Commission 'is therefore likely to prevail on the merits of this action;

- 3. There is good cause to believe' that immediate and itreparable damage to the

| Court’s abihty to grant eﬂ'ective ﬁnal relief in the form of monetary restitution wﬂl occur from - -

- the sale, transfer, or other dlSpOSltlon or concealment by Defendants of their assets or corporate
. records, unless Defendants are immediately restramed and enjoined by Order of th1; Court The -
evidence set forth in the_Plaintiﬁ’s Ex Parte Application for Temporary Restraining Order,
Preliminary Injunction and Other Equitable Relief, and in the accompanying declarations and
exhibits shows that the Defendants have engaged in a concerted course of illegal activity in -
connection with the advertismg, promotion, oﬁ'enng, sale or serv1c1ng of Merchant Accounts to -
small businesses nationw1de in violation of Section 5 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45.
Defendants’ very busmess involves disguised unauthonzed debitmg from Merchants’ bank
accounts, and the alteration of Merchant Account documents apparently to Jusufy those debits.
Thus there is good cause to believe that the Defendants will attempt to conceal the scope of their

deliberate illegal actions to avoid retummg their ill-gotten gains to Merchants injured by their

unlawful practices if not restrained from doing so by Order of this Court.



4, The Commission has not provided notice to the Defendants due to the likelihood
that advanced notice of this action wﬂl lead to the very irreparable harm, including the
' d1551pat10n of assets and destruction of ev1dence ‘that the Commlssmn seeks. to prevent through

its applican'on foranex parte temporary restraining order. The Commission’s request for this

_emergency ex. parte relief is not the result of any lack of drhgence on the part of the Comnnssmn, -

but is mstead based on the nature of the Defendants’ unlawful conduct. There is thus good cause
for relieving the Comm1ss10n of the duty to provide Defendants w1th prior’ notlce of the
Commission’s application. -

5. . Thereis good cause for the Court to order an asset ﬁeeze and appoint a temporary '
| ~rece1ver for the Corporate Defendants The Corporate Defendants, while under the control of the'
' Ind1v1dua1 Defendants, have made msrepresentatxons and om1ss10ns, dn'ectly and through their

agents, to those Merchants for whom they are supposed to be providing services. Fm'ther, the
_Defendants have engaged in a widespread effort to debit money from these Merchants \mthout
authonzatlon The Defendants use the ACH Network to debit the Merchants’ accounts before
they have notice of the oﬂ'endmg deblts and alter their contract documents in an apparent effort
to justify these'debits. The Defendangs have retained 111-gotten gains from these and other -
practices, and a receiver and asset ﬁeeze are reasonably necessary in order to preserve the
possrblhty of complete and meamngful relief at the conclusion of this litigation.

6. | Welghmg the equities and cons1denng the Commission’s likelihood of ultimate
.Success, a ternporary restraining order with asset freeze and appointment of 2 temporary receiver

are in the public interest; and



7. Fed. R. Civ. P. 65(c) does not require security of the United States oran officer
_or agericy thereof. |
| Definitions
For the purpose of this temporary restralmng order, the fonooving deﬁnitions shall apply:
A. “ACH’ means The Federal Reserve Bank’s Automated Cleanng House a
. processmg and dehvery system for the dlstnbutlon of electronic debits and creths among
financial institutions. v
: Bt “Acquiring Bank” means eny bank which provides Merchant Accounts and has an -
. agreement with Defendants relattng to Merchant Accounts. |
C. | “Assets” means all real and personal property of Defendants, orheld for the' .
‘benefit of Defendants' including, but not hmlted to “goods,” “instruments,” “equipment,’f
: “ﬁxtures,” “general intangibles,” “mventory,” “checks,” or “notes” (as these terms are defined m
- the Uniform Commercial Code), all cash, ﬁmds real or nersonal property, accounts, contracts, -
shares of stock, lists of Merchant names, | or other assets, or any mterest therein, wherever located.
D.. . “Card processmg’ means goods and services relatmg to the acceptance,
authorization, settlement, and payments for credlt- or deblt-card related sales.
" E. "Check conversion processing” means any goods and servxces tha_.t may relate to,
trancated check debits, as that term is used in the ACH Rules and Operating Guidelines,
published by the National Automated Clea;iJig House Association. |
F. | “Cleatly and conspicuously” means:
| 1. if presented in wntmg, the information shall be in a type size and location

sufficient for an ordmary consumer to read and comprehend it, and shall
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" be disclosed in a manner that would be easily recognizable and
understandable in language and syntax to an ordinary consumer. Ifthe
information is contained in a multi-page print d'ocumént, the disclésure

‘shall appear on the first page.
2. if presented orally, the information shall be disclosed m a trolume, cati’értce
| and syntax sufficient for an ordinary consumer to hear and comprehend.
3 : Nothmg contrary to any mformatxon dasclosed shall be 1mparted at or near
‘.t.he ﬁmg of the disclosure. Further, a subsequent disclosure made orally or
Jin wntmg only limits or tlualiﬁes a prior disclosure and cannot cure a false
* claim. | |
G. - “Corporate Defendants” means Certified Merchant Services, Ltd., Certified
Merchént‘ Gl_’,AInc'., Certiﬁed Merchant Servicgs,'-Cerﬁﬁed Merchant Services, Inc.; TMS, CMS,
Inc., Transaction Merchant Services, Transaction Merchant Servi:ces.Com, and Electrochéctk, and -
their subsidiaties; affiliates (including CJF Corporation, Inc.), divisions, successors, and assigns,
whether acting ttirectly ot through any of their officers, diret:tors, agents, servants, employees,
joint ventures,.or other dev1ces, unless speclﬁed otherw1se |
"H. “Defendant” means any of the Individual Defendants and the Corporate
- Defendants. “Defendants” means all of the Individual Dgfendants and the Corporate Defendaﬁts,
' individtlally, collecﬁvely, orin any‘ combination. |
L “Document” is equa] in scope and synonymous in meanmg to the usage of the'

term in Federal Rule Civil Procedure 34(a), and includes wntmgs, drawmgs, charts gtaphs



photographs, audio and video recordings, computer records, and any other data compilations
from whlch mformatlon can be obtained. . |

I ““Tn or affecting commerce” shall mean as deﬁned in Section 4 of the FTC Act, 15 -
U.S.C. § 44.

K_. “Indmdual Defendants” means J onathan Frankel, Craig Frankel and Randal A.
Best, mdmdually, co]lechvely, or in any combmatlon, and whether actmg dn'ectly or through any .
successor, assign, agent, entity, corporation, subsidiary, d1v1510n, or other device, unless specified
* otherwise. | |

L. “Merchant” means a person, vcorporation or any other entity, who/which sellsor . -
leases goods or serv1ces, and acts as a consumer by purchasing, leasing or renting goods or
services other than pnmanly for persopal, family or household purposes. “Merchants” means any
- of the Merohants, individually, colIectwely, or in any combination. |
M. “Merchant Account” means a bank account opened at an Acquiring Bank in the
| name of a Merchant for deposits of the proceeds of the Mercktant’s credit or debit card-related -
‘sales transactions. “Met‘chant Account” also ineludes, but is not limited to, goods, leases aod .

services related to that account.

N. . “Merchant Accoutlt Portfolio” means_a]l Merchant Acoounts from which
Defendants derive any 1 income. |

0. | “Relate to” means refer to, concern, regard, reﬂect, discuss, constltute, mention,
| pertain to, allude to or associate with. “Relating to” means referring to, concerning, regardmg,

~ reflecting, discussing, constituting, mentioning, pertaining to, alluding to or associated with.



P. . “Temporary receiver’ shall mean the temporary receiver appo%nted in Paragraph
VIO of this Order. The term “temporary receiver” also-includes any deputy receivers as may be
named‘by the fe_mporafy neceiver. |
B Condncf Prohibitions -
. : L .
IT IS- THEREFORE ORDERED that m connection with the advertising, promoﬁon_,
oﬁ'ering or sale of goods or servic_es m commerce, befendants are helfeby tempora:rily restrained
and enjoined from altering or 'adding to, or assisting ofhers in altering or adding to, withoit

L consent of Merchants slgned documents relating to Merchant Accounts, thereby producmg

- changes to matenal terms, mcludmg but not 11m1ted to, mcreased rates and added fees and

expenses. -
| II.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, in connection wnh the provision of card processing
or check conversion processmg, Defendants are hereby temporarily restrained and enjoined from
‘debiting, billing or rece1v1ng money, or ass1stmg others in deb1tmg, billing or recelvmg money:

- A. - From Merchants‘ before Defendants have provided such Merchants with promised :
card processmg servmes or goods, | -
B. - - From Merchants for check conversmn processmg before such Merchants have
| signed up for and actxvated such services; and

C. From Merchants for services or goods prov1ded after the Merchants have

cancelled, orally or m wntmg



L.

" IT 1S FURTHER ORDERED that in connection with the advertising, promotion,
offermg or sale of goods or services in commerce, Defendants are hereby temporanly restrained
and enj omed from makmg or assisting others in making, directly or by 1mphcat10n, orally or in
wntmg, any mlsrepresentatlon of material fact, including but not limited to: ‘

A, IfMerchants purchase Defendants’ services, such Merchants will save money
| each month on thei;' card prbcessing expenses;
B. If Merchants are dissatisfied with any services or representations made by
: Defgnciants,'Merchants can cancel or transfer to another card processor at any:time -
:with no further obligation; \ |
} .
C. There is ne'monthiy.minimm fee or expense associated with Merchant Accounts
" or associated\s.ervices c;ffered by Defendants; |
.D. : Th_ere are no fees qt expenses in addition to the d.iscount rate and per-tfansaction :
. | fee. agreed to by Merchants and |
- . E | If Merchants are charged cancellatxon fees by prior card processors, Defendants
will reimburse the Merchants.
IV.

ITIS FURTHER ORDERED that in connection with the advertising, promo’uon, |
oﬂ'enng or sale of goods or serv1ces in commerce, if Defendants represent dnectly or by
implication that they charge any parucular percentage or fee, then Defendants are hereby
| temporarily restramed and enjomed from fa111ng to disclose clearly and conspicuously, directly or -

by implication, orally or in writing, any material fact relatmg to fees, including but not limited to:
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Whether, under what conditions, and in what amounts the Defendants charge or -
debit any monthly minimum fees;

Whether, under what conditions, and in what amounts the Defendants charge or

debit any semi-annual fees; and

. Whether, under what c,onditinns,_ and in what amounts the Defendants chargetdr :

debit any cancelldtinn fees.
. Asset Freeze

V.

ITIS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendants are hereby temporanly restrained and -

enjomed ﬁ'om dJIectly or mdlrectly'

A

Transferring, hqmdatmg, convertmg, encumbenng, pledging, loaning, selhng,
concealing, dissipating, disbursing, assigning, spending, withdrawing, grantinga

lien or security interest im, or otherwise disposing of any aésets, wherever located,

including outside the United States,"thét are (1) owned or nontrolled, directly or

. ind.irectly, by any Defendant, in-whole or in pai't’, or held, in whole or in part for

the benefit of any Defendant; (2) in the actual or constructive possession of any '
Defendant; oij (3) owned, controlled by, or in the actual or 60nstf_uctive possession

of any corporation, partnership, or other entity ‘directly or indirectly owned,

'managéd, or controlled by, or under common control mth any Defendant,
: including but not hmlted to, any agséts held by, for, nr under the name of any

Defendant at any bank, Savings and loan institution, or correspondent bank or



with' any broker-dealer, escrow agent, title company, commodity tradfng company,
precious metal dealer, or other ﬁnancial institution or depository of any lcmd,
B. Openmg or causing to be opened any safe deposit boxes titled in _the. name of any
Defendant, or subJ ect to access by any Defendant; -
. C.. Incurnng charges or cash advances on any credit card, debit card, or checkmg card
| 1ssued in the name, smgly or Jomtly, of any Defendant
D.  Obtaining a personal or secured loan; and
E. Incurring liens or encumbrances on real nroperty, personal. property or other assets
the name, smgly or Jomtly of any Defendant. |
ded, however that the temporary recelver may transfer funds from any. account relating to’

-
- the Corporate Defendants for the purposes of operating the Corporate Defendants’ business or

any portion thereof. The assets affected by this Paragraph V shall include: (1) all of the assets of
the Defendants existing as of the date this Order was entered; and (2) for assets obtained' afc'er'the
 date this Order vyas' entered, only those assets that are derived from or otherwise related to the

* activities alleged in the Commission’s complamt. | .

Retentlon of Assets by Banks
and Other Third Parties

v
iT IS FURTHER ORDERED, pending determination of the Commission’s application
| fora prehmmary m]unctlon, that any financial or brokerage mstxtuuon, escrow agent, title
company, commodlty tradmg company, busmess entity, trust, or person that holds, controls or

mamtams accounts or assets of, or on behalf of, any. Defendant, or has held, controlled or
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maintained any account or asset of or on behalf of, any Defendant at any time since January 1,

1999, upon service w1th a copy of this Order, shall:

A.

| Hold and retain within its control and prohlblt the withdrawal, removal

assignment, transfer, pledge, hypothecatlon, encumbrance, disbursement,

: dissipation, conversion, sale; gift, or other disposal of any of the aésets, ﬁmds:or

other property held by or on behalf of any Defendant in any account maintained '1.11.
the name of or for the benefit of any Defendant, in Whele or in pért, except:

1. as directed by further order of the Court;

2. " as d1rected in writing by the temporary recelver (regarding assets held in

the name or for the benefit of the Corporate Defendants and determmed by - -

the temporary receiver to be necessary for the operatxon ofthe business or
any porl:ion thereof); or
3. for specific transfers agreed to in writing by counsel for the Comntissiom
Deny access to any safe deposit boxes that are either: |
1. titl'ed in the natne, individually or jotntly, of éhy Defendant; or
2. othermse subj ect to access by any Defendant.

Provxde counsel for the Commlssmn, within five (5) busmess days of service of .-

, this Order, a statement settmg forth:

1. the identification of each account or asset titled in the name, individually
o jointly, of any Defendant, or held on behalf of, or for the benefit of any
Defendant;

2. the balance of each such account, or a description and appraisal of the
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value of such.asset, as of (a) the close of business on the day on which this
Order is served, and (b) the close of business onlthe day prior to which this
- Order i is served |
: 3 . the rdentxﬁcatlon of any safe depos1t box that is e1ther titled in the name,
individuatly or jointly, of any Defendant, or is otherwxse subject to access
. by any Defendant; and L | |
4, - ifan 'account, safe deposit hox, or other asset has been closed or removed,
the date closed or removed, the balance- on such date "and the manner.in
: | whlch such account or asset was closed or removed.
. D. - The Comnussron and temporary receiver are granted leave pursuant to Fed. R
C1v P. 45 and notwithstanding Fed. R. Clv P. 26 to subpoena documents ‘

: imtnediately from any such ﬁnanclal mstttuuon, account custodian, or other
aforementnoned entity concermng the nature, locauon, status, and extent of
Defendants' assets, and comphance w1th th1s Order Subpoenas may be served by
agents or attorneys of the Commission' or temporary receiver and by agents of any

.. process server retamed by the Commlssmn or temporary rece1ver |
Fmanclal Statements
VL
ITIS FURTHER ORDERED that each Defendant, within seventy-two (72) hours of

servxce  of this Order prepare and dehver to the temporary recerver and counsel for Commission

completed ﬁna.ncral statements on the forms attached to this Order as Attachments A aud B, for
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_—

‘
'

themselves and for any entity or joint venture under which they conduct busine;ss, or of which
i

they are an officer. The financial statements shall be accurate as of the date of iscrvice of this

'Order upon such Defendant.’
Appointment of Temporary Recelver
VIIL,

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that __ Garrett Vogel _, is appointed as

temporary receiver, with the full power of an equity receiver, for the Corporate?Defendmlts, and
of all the funds, properties, premises (including 6101 West Plano Parkway, Pla;'no, Texas 7 5093;
P.O. Box-260077, Plano, Texas 7502G; and P.O. Box 800697, Dallas, Texas 7.‘3;380), accounts
and other assets directly or indirectly owned, beneficially or otherwise, by the (glorporate
Defendants, with directions and authority to accomplish the following: 4
A.  Take full control of the Corporate Defendants, with the power t¢ rctqin OT remove,
as the temporary receiver deems necessary or advisable, any ofﬂcm, director,
|
independent contractor, employee, or agent of these entities; :
B. Collect, marshal, and take custody, control and possession of allj the funds,
préperty, pfemiscs,'accounts, mail énd"otﬁe.r asséts of, or in the ;;Jossession or
|
under the control of the Corporate Defendants, wherever simate.p,Athc income and
|
profits therefrom, and all sums of money now or hereafter due or owing to the

Corporate Defendants, with full power to collect, receive and tal;(e possession of

all goods, chattels, rights, credits, monies, effects, lands, leases, @books and

records, limited partnership records, work papers, and records of accounts, -

including computer-maintained information, contracts, financial_ records, monies
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" on hand in banks and other financial institutions, and other papers and documents
of other individuals, partnerships or corporations whose interests are now held by
or under the d1recuon, possessmn, custody or control of the Corporate Defendants; -
Perform all acts necessary to conserve, hold, manage, and preserve the value of
those assets, in order to prevent any HTeP?fable loss, damage and injury to - 3
Merchants.- Such acts may include, but not be limited to, continuing card .-
processing and check conversion processing for Defmdmm’AMmhmt Account

' Portfolio, making payments to Merchants in Defendants’ Merchant Account

APortfolio,' maldng payments to and mceivmg-payments from Acquiring Banks, and
providing customer servrce to Merchants o |

" Enter into such agreements n connectron w1th ademstratron of the recervershlp,
including, but not limited to: (1) the retentron and employment of mvestlgators,
attorneys and accountants of the temporary receiver's choice, including, w1thout :
h'mitation, members and employees of the temporary receiver's firm, to assist,

' advise, and represent the temporary rec'eiver, and (2) the movement and storage of -

" any eqmpment furmture documents ‘Tecords, files or other physical property of " -

the Corporate Defendants pro vided, however that nothmg in this Order shall be -

deemed a “plan of reorgamzatlon as that term is used in the Texas Rev1sed
Limited Partnership Act or any other statute

Institute, prosecute, compromlse, adjust, intervene in or become party to such
actions or proceed;'ngs in_state, federal or foreign courts that the t_emporary :

receiver deems necessary and advisable to preserve the value of the properties of
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the Corporate Defenctants, or that the temporary receiver deems necessary and
advisable to carry out the temporary receiver's mandate mtder this Orxder, a1td
likewise to defend, comt)romise, or adjust or otherwise dispose o_f any or all

| _ actions or proceedmgs instituted agamst the Corporate Defendants, that the
temporary receiver deems necessary and adv1sable to preserve the properhes of
the Corporate Defendants, or that the temporary receiver deems necessary- and .

. advisable to carry out the temporary receiver's mandate under this Order;

‘F.  Prepare and sﬁbmit a Report to this Court and to the parties, not less than three (3) -

days prior to any scheduled Prehmmary In]unctlon Hearmg, descnbmg the
'recelvershlp defendants’ busmess activities, mcludmg but not hmlted to, the scope -...-
of the Corporate Defendants’ activities, as'sets (and the location of those assets),
-Merchant Account underwriting, relationships with sales persons, relationships
with any compames that lease eqmpment the role of any ofﬁcers or d1rectors of
.the Cerporate Defendants_; and the Corporate Defendants’ tevenues, mcludmg a
‘breakdown of those revenues ﬁ'om discoutlt rates,_attthorization fees, monthly
m1mmum fees, semi-annual fees, eancellation fees, batching fees and equipment

| leases.

For the purposes of this Order, delivet;y of docun:tente or prepexty to the temporary receiver shall

be effected upon delivery to the temporary receiver at 6101 West Plano Parkway, Plano, Texae

75003,
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Access to Business Premises and Records
IX.

ITIS FURTHER ORDERED that the temporary receiver and his repre__sentatives and
agents shall have immediate access to any-business premises of the Corporate Defendants, and :
immediate access to any othee lmaﬁon where tne Coroomte Defendante have conducted bnsiness
- and where property or business reoords.are likely to be located. | Snch locations specifically
include, buf are not limited to, the offices and facilities of fhe Corporate Defendants: 6101 West
- Plano Parkway, Plano, Texas 75093; P. O Box 260077, Plano, Texas 75026; and P. O.Box

800697, Dallas, Texas 75380. The temporary receiver is authorized to employ the assistance of
law enforcement ofﬁcers as the temporary receiver deems necessary, to effect service and'to -
imolement peacefully the pfovisi’ons of this Order. ;I'he purpose of access shall be to implement
and carry out the temporary receiver’s duties set forth in Paragraph: VIII, and to inspect and
inventory all of the Corporate Defendants’ property, assets and documents and inspect and copy
any ‘documents relevant to this action.  The temporary receiver and those specifically designated
bjf the temporary receiver shall have the right to ;'emove the abo?e—listed documents from those-
premises in order that they may be iﬁspected, invenforied, ami copied. The temporary receiver at
his/her discretion sﬁau allow representati'\res of the Commission into any locaﬁon(s) described in ‘-
this Paragraph IX and shall allow Commission representatives to inspect, inventory and copy
documents of the Corporate Defendants | |

If any property, business records, documents, or computer files relating to the Corporate
Defendants are located in the personal residence of an Individual Defendant or any other person

served with this Order, then such Individual Defendant or person shall, within twenty-four (24)
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hours of service of this Order:

A

Produce to the temporary receiver all contracts, accounting daita, written or

electronic correspondence, advertisements, computer tapes, disks, or other -

computerized records, books, written or printed records, handwritten notes, -

telephone logs, telephone scripts, marketing materials, membership records and
lists, refund records, receipts, ledgers, personal and business. canceled checks and
check registers, bank statements, appointment books, limited partnership

documents copies of federal state or local business or personal income or :

: property tax retums and other documents or records of any kmd that relate to the

' Corporate Defendants’ property or assets, or are relevant to thxs action; '

Produce to the temporary receiver all computers, computer passyvords, and data in -

_ whatever form, used by such Defendant or person or any of such Defendant’s -

agents, employees oﬂicers, servants or those persons in actwe concert w1th him

or her, in activities relatmg to the Corporate Defendants and

B Produce to the temporary receiver a hst of all agents, employees, officers, servants

or those persons in active concert and part1c1patxon with h1m or her, who have
been associated or don_e business with the Corporate Defendants.
Accounting of Expenditures .

X.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that:

A.

The Individual Defendants shall make and keep accurate records reflecting any

and all funds or assets received from any source after the eﬁ‘ectlve date of this
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Order, and any and all expenditures after the effective date of this Order totaling
'$500 or more, including without limitation expenditures for living and business
expenses. . |
B.  Nolaterthan threel 3 days prior to the commencement of the hearing set forth in
. Paragraph XXIII the Individual Defendants shall provide the Commission and the
temporary receiver with é, true and accuréte statement reﬂecting'
1. - A1l funds or assets recelved from any source after the effective date of this
| 'Order, including w1thout limitation funds received by payment loan or
gift; | _
2. 'The name, address,' and t'elep:hone number of the source of all fuﬁds or
| ‘assets' réceiv"ed from any source after the eﬂ;ecti\"e &ate of this Order,
ix_icluding without limitation ﬁmds recéived by payment; loan, or gift; |
| 3. The amount of each expenditure totaling $560 or more; and
4. The name, addrgss, and telephone number of each regipient of any
expend1ture totaling $500 or more. |
C.b A‘:Ther Teports described in this Paragraph shall be supplied to the Commission as.
‘provided in Paragraph XXIL | .
Delivery of Receivership Property
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, immediately upon service of this Order upon them,
the Defendants, and any other person or entlty served with a copy of this Order, shall forthwith or

within such time as permitted by the temporary receiver in writing, deliver over to the temporary
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receiver:

A

Possession and custody of all ﬁlnds, assets, property owned beneficially or
otherwise, end all orher assets, Whereirer ‘situated, of the Corporate Defendants;
Possession, and custody of all books and records of accounts, all financial and
accounting records, balance sheets, income statements, bank records (includiﬁg "
_monthly statements, oanceled checks, records of vﬁre transfers, records of ACH .-

transactions, and check registers), lirnited partnership documents, client lists, title -

document, and other papers of the Corporate Defendants;

Possession and custody of a11 funds and other assets Belonging to members of the

public now held by the Corporate Defendants

All keys, computer passwords entry codes, combmatlons to locks required to.

open or gain access to'any of the property or effects, and all monies in any bank

dep031ted to the credit of the Corporate Defendants, wherever s1tuated, and
Informatlon identifying the accounts employees, properhes, or other assets or.
obhganons of the Corporate Defendants.

.Repaﬁnﬁon of Foreign Assets and Documents

XIL.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED THAT within forty-eight (48) hours following service of

this Order, Defendants shall:

A

Provide the Comm1ss1on w1th a full accountmg of all assets and documents
outside of the temtory of the United States wh1ch are held either: (1) by them; (2)

for their benefit; or (3) under their dxrect conn'ol, Jomtly or singly;
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Transfer to the territory of the United States all assets and documents in foreign
countries held either: (1) by them,; (2) for their benefit; or (3) wnder their direct
control, jointly or singly. In the case of any hqmd assets held in fore1 gn countries,

each Defendant shall u'a.nsfer such assets to one domestlc account in Texas, txtled

in that Defendant’s name and designated prior to any transfer by written not;ce to

the temporary receiver and the Cerhmission, such written notice to state the: . ..
amouﬁt of the transfer and identify the domestic account by ﬁnaneial institution,
title holder and account number;
Hold and retain all eueh repatriated assets and'doeuments, and'preeent any - -
u'e_nsfer, dispesiﬁon or dissibaﬁen whzitsoeﬁr of any such assets or funds; and
T, )

Provide the.Commission and temperary reeeiver access to Defendants’ reco;'ds
and documents held hy financial institutions outside the territorial United States;
by signing the Consent to Release of Finahcial Records ettached to this Order as
AttachmeritC. - | |

| Compensation of Temporery Receiver

" X1I.

ITIS FURTHER ORDERED. THAT the temﬁorary receiver and all personnel hired by

the temporary receiver as herein authorized, includihg counsel to the temporar} receiver and

accountants, are entitled to reasonable compensatlon for the performance of duties pursuant to

.thls Order and for the cost of actual out-of-pocket expenses mcurred by them, from the assets

now held by or in the possessmn or control of, or which may be received by, the Defendants.

The tempora.ry receiver shall ﬁle with the Court and serve on the parties periodic requests for the
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payment of such reasonable compensation, with the first éuch request due prior to sixty (60) days
after the date of this Order. The temporary receiver shall not increase his fee rate billed to the
Defendants without prior approval of tﬁc Court.
Temporary Receiver’s Bond
| Xv.
ITIS FURTHER ORDERED that the temporary receiver shall file with the Clerk of

this Court a bond in the sum of § 2,000,000.00 with sureties to be approved by the Court,

conditioned that the temporary receiver will well and truly perform the duties of the office and
abide by and perform all acts the Court directs.
Stay of Other Actions
XV.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that except by leave of this Court, during the pendency of
the receivership ordered herein, the Defendants and all customers, Merchants, principals,
investors, creditors, stockholders, lessors, and other persons seeking to establish or enforce any
claim, ri gbt or interest against or on behalf of the Defendants, and all others acting for or on
behalf of such i)ersons, including éttomeys, trustees, agents, sh‘e;riffs,r .c‘:o_nstables, marshalé, and
other officers and their deputies, and their respective attorneys, servants, agents and employees
be and are hereby stayéd from:

A. Commencing, prosecuting, continuing or enforcing any suit or proceeding agaiﬁst

the Corporate Défendants, except that such actions may be filed to toll any
applicable statute of limitations; -

B. . Commencing, prosecuting, continuing or entering any suit or proceeding in the
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name or .on behalf of the Corporate Defendants;

-C. ‘ Acceleratmg the due date of any obligation or claimed obligation, enforcmg any.
lien upon, or taking or attemptmg to take possessmn of, or retammg possession of,
any property of the Corporate Defendants, or any property claimed by any of them
or attempting to foreclose, forfeit, alter'orterminate any of the Corporate .
Defendants’ interests in property, including, without limitation, the establishment, -

) granting, or perfection of any secunty interest, whether such acts are part of a
judicial proceeding or otherwise; |

. .D. - Usmg self- help or executmg or 1ssmng, or causing the execu’uon or issuance of :

any court attachment, subpoena, replevm, executlon or other process for the. -
purpose of 1mpoundmg or takmg possession of or mterfenng with, or creating or -
enforcing a lien upon any property wheresoever located, owned by or in the -
possessron of the Corporate Defendants, or the temporary receiver appomted
pm'suant to th1s Order or any agent appointed by ‘the ternporary receiver; and

_ E Domg any act or thmg whatsoever to mterfere with the temporary receiver taking

o control, possession or rnanegement of the property snbj ect to this receiversnip, or
to in any way interfere with the temporary receiver, or to liarass or interfere vﬁth
~ the duties of the temporary receiver; or to interfere in any manner with the
exclusive jurisdiction of this Court over the property and assets of the Corporate
Defendants o |
Provided, h WEVer, nothmg in this Paragraph XV sha]l prohﬂnt any federal or state law

enforcement or regulatory authonty from commencmg or prosecutmg an action agamst the
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Corporate Defendants.
Record Keeping
XVIL

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendants, or any persons served with a copy of this

_ Order, are hereby temporanly restramed and enjomed from:

A. Falhng to create and maintain books, records, accounts, and data which, in
reasonahle detail, accurately, fa1r1y, and completely reﬂect their incomes,
dlsbursements transactions, and use of monies, in any way relating to the
'recelversh1p estate or relevant to this actron, and

' _B. . ~Destroy1ng, erasing, mutilating, conceahng, altermg, n‘ansfemng, or otherwise - |

| dlsposmg of, in any manner, dlrectly or mdlrectly, any contracts, accounting data, -
‘correspondence, adyerttsements, computer tapes, discs, or other compntenzed
. records books written or printed records handwritten notes, telephone logs,
telephone scripts receipt books, ledgers, personal and business canceled checks -
| and check reg1sters, bank statements appomtment books copies of federal -state
or local busmess or personal income or property tax returns, and other documents |
or records of any kind that relate in any way to the receivership estate or are
l,relev.ant to this action.
- Consumer Credit Reports
XVIL
- ITIS FURTHER ORDERED that pursuant to Section 604(1) of the Fair Credit

Reportmg Act, 15U.S. C § 168 lb(l) any consumer reportmg agency may :ﬁ.lrmsh a consumer
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report concerning any of the Individual Defendants to the Commission or the temporary receiver.
Service of Preliminary Injuhctio‘n Pleadings

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED-that the Defendants shall serve on the Commission all
memoranda, affidavits and ether evidence on which the Defendants intend to rely at the
prehmmary injnnction hearing set in this mntter not later than 4:00 p.m. (Centrél time) on the
third day pﬁor to the hearing date. '

~ Expedited Discovery

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, prior to the prehmmary m;uncuon hearmg or the’
explratlon of this Temporary Resn-ammg Order, whichever occurs ﬁrst, any party may depose or -
~ subpoena any third party pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 30 and 45, upon twenty-four (24) hours’
notice. Any deposition taken pursuant to this provxsmn isin addmon to, and not subject to, the
presumptive limits on depos1t10ns set forth in Fed. R. Civ.P. 30 and/or 31. Subpoenas may be.
served by agents or attorneys of the Commission and by agents of any process server retained by -
- any of the parties. .Nothing in this provision shall affect the Court’s abilityto further mod;fy the .
discovery rules as they apply in this matter

Dlstributlon of Order by Defendants
XX,
| IT iS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendants shall immediately provide a copy of th1s

Order to each afﬁhate, subsidiary, d1v1310n, sales person, sales enuty, SUCcCessor, ass1gn, officer,

dlrector, employee, mdependent conn'actor, agent, attomey, and representauve of any Defendant
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and shall, within ten (10) davs from the date of entry of this Order, provide the Commission with

a sworn statement that Defendants have comphed with this provision of the Order, wlnch

statement shall include the names and addresses of each such person or entity who recerved a
copy of the Order. . |
| | : .. Service ot' This Order |
IT.IS FURTHER ORDERED that eopies of this Order may be served by any means';

including facsimile transmission, upon any ﬁnancial institution or other entity or person that may

_ have possess1on, custody, or control of any documents or assets of the Defendants, or that may be

" subj ect to any provrsron of th15 Order Serv1ce upon any branch or office of any ﬁnanc1al

mstltutlon shall effect serv1ce upon the entire ﬁnanclal mst:ltutlon. Pursuant toFed. R. Civ. P.

- 4(c)(2), th1s Order and the initial papers filed in thls matter may be served by agents or attorneys

of the Commission or temporary recerver and by agents of any process server retained by the

. Commission or temporary receiver.

‘ Service upon Plamtlff
o
) ITis FURTHER ORDERED, Wlth regard to ,any correspondence, statements, or
pleading.s‘related to this t)r_d_er, service on the Commission shall be performed by overnight

delivery to the attention of Douglas V. Wolfe at the Federal Trade Commission, 600

' Pennsylvama Avenue, NW Room H-238 Washmgton, DC 20580 (202) 326-3113, or by

. facs1m11e transmission to (202) 326-3395
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Preliminary Injunction Hearing

XXIHI.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 65(b), that each of the -

Defendants shall appear before this Court on thed_? ZI#’L ‘day of WJB‘LMM , 2002 at
: U

1130 o’clock, P_.m., at the United States Court House, 101 E, Pecan Street, Room ,

Sherman, Texas, to show cause, if there is any, why this Court should not enter a preliminary
injunction, pending final ruling on the Complaint against Defendants, enjoining them frorh
further violations of Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a), continuing the freeze of
their assets, and imposing such additional relief as my be appropriate.
Retention of Jurisdiction
XXT1V.
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that this Court shall retain jurisdiction of this matter for

all purposes.

/ -
IT IS SO ORDERED, this /{ day of ﬁ)du-vymooz, a3 Yl 7 M

@é&e«rﬁ

United States-District Judge /
Eastem District of Texas
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ATTACHMENT A
Temporary Restraining Order .
Federal Trade Commission vs. Certified Merchant Services, Ltd, et al



' FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION

FINANCIAL STATEMENT OF INDIVIDUAL DEFENDANT

Instructions:
1. Complete all items. Enter “None” or “N/A” (“Not Applicable”) where appropriate. If you cannot fully answer a
" question, explain why.

2. “Dependents” include your live-in companion, dependent children, or any other person, whom you or your
spouse (or your children’s other parent) claimed or could have claimed as a dependent for tax purposes at any
time during the past five years. ' :

3. “Assets” and “Liabilities” include ALL assets and liabilities, located within the United States or elsewhere,
whether held individually or jointly. -

4. Attach continuation pﬁges asneeded. O the financial statement, state next to the Item number that the Item is

' being continued. On the continuation page(s), identify the Item number(s) being continued.

S. Type or print legibly.

6. Initial each page in the space provided in the lower right corner.

1. Sign and date the completed financial statement on the last page.

Penalty for False Information:

Federal law provides that any person may be imprisoned for not more than five years, fined, or both, if such person:

(1) “in any matter within the jurisdiction of any department or agency of the United States knowingly and
willfully falsifies, conceals or covers up by any trick, scheme, or device a material fact, or makes any false,
fictitious or fraudulent statements or representations, or makes or uses any false writing or document knowing the
same to contain any false, fictitious or fraudulent statement or entry” (18 U.S.C. § 1001);

(2) “inany ... statement under penalty of perjury as permitted under section 1746 of title 28, United States
Code, willfully subscribes as true any material matter which he does not believe to be true” (18 U.S.C. § 1621);
or ‘

(3) “inany (... statement under penalty of perjury as permitted under section 1746 of title 28, United States
Code) in any proceeding before or ancillary to any court or grand jury of the United States knowingly makes any
false material declaration or makes or uses any other information . . . knowing the same to contain any false
material declaration” (18 U.S.C. § 1623). ' ‘ ‘

For a felony conviction under the provisions cited above, federal law provides that the fine may be not more than .the
greater of (i) $250,000 for an individual or $500,000 for a corporation, or (ii) if the felony results in pecuniary gain to any
person or pecuniary loss to any person other than the defendant, the greater of twice the gross gain or twice the gross loss.
18 U.S.C. § 3571.
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BACKGROUND INFORMATION

Hem 1. Information About You

Your Full Name ‘Social Security No.
Place of Birth Date of Bn'th Drivers License No.
mt Address | From (Date)
Rentr.or Own? Telephbne No. __ Facsimile ﬁo. |
E-Mail Address _Internet Home Page

Previous Addresé:s for past five years: | )

Address | Rent or Own? From/Until
Address . Rent or Own?_ From/Uﬁtil

Identify any other name(s) and/or social security number(s) you have used, and the time period(s) during which they

. were used

Item 2. ~ Information About Your Spouse or Live-In Companion
Spouse/Companion's Name Social Security No.
Place of Birth Date of Birth

Identify any other name(s) and/or social security number(s) your spouse/companion has used, and the time period(s)

during which they were used

Address (if different from yours)

From (Date) Rent or Own? Telephone No.
‘Employer’s Name and Address | :
Job Title Years in Present Job Annual Gross Salary/Wages $
Item 3. _ Information About Your Previous Spouse
Previous Spousé’s Name & Address
_ Social Security No. Date of Birth
Page 2 Initials



| Datés Employed: From (Month/Year) | _ To (Month/Year)

Ttem 4. Contact Infor_mation'

Name & Address of Nearest Liviﬁg Relative or Friend.

Telephone No.

Item5. I_nformﬁtion About Dependénts Who Live With You - -

»Name _ - : Date of Birth

Relationship ' ' SRR Social Security No.

—_Y>Name e , _ o | Date of Birth _

Relatioﬁship . S | ‘Social Sgéurity No.

»Name : | , _ ._Date of Birth
‘Relationship ) ' _Social Security No.

Item 6. Information About Depelxldents Who Do Not Live Witl; You

»Name & Address _ : |

Date of Birth ‘ Relationship ___ | | 'Sociai.S'ecurity No._
»Name Address ' - ,

Date of Birth | ' Rjélaﬁonship | _ Social Security No.r
»Name & Address: ‘

Date of Birth Relationship _ i - Social Sécurity No.
Item 7. Employment Information ’ |

Provide the following information for this year-to-date and for ééch of the previous five full years, for each company of

. which you were a director, officer, employee, agent, contractor, participant or consultant at any time during that period.

“Income” includes, but is not limited to, any salary, commissions, draws, consulting fees, loans, loan pammm,
dividends, royalties or other benefits for which you did not pay (e.g., health insurance premiums, automobile lease or
loan payments) received by you or anyone else on your behalf.

>Company Name & Address

Positions Held with Beginning an& Ending Dates
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Income Received: This year-to-date: $ _ . " : $
“ 20 L § ' k ~ _:$
: 8 : ' : 8
»Company Name & Address
Dates Employed: From (Month/Y car) L 3 To (Month/Year)

Positions Held with Begimﬁng and Ending Dates

Income Received: This year-to-date: $ o : 3

20 : $ | : v : $
: $ . R . : $

»Company Name & Address v
Dates Employed: From (Month/Year) - ‘ i “To (Month/Year) _

Positions Held with Beginning and Ending Dates |

Income Receivéd_: ‘This year-to-date: $ ‘ ' . )
20__ ;S . : $
Item 8. Pendmg Lawsmts Flled by You or Your Spouse

List all pending lawsults that have been filed by you or your spouse in com't or before an admnnstratxve agency. (List
lawsuits that resulted in final judgments or settlements in Items 16 and 25). -

Opposing Party’s Name & Address
Court’s Name & Address
Docket No. ’ | Relief Requested - __Nature of Lawsuit

Status
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' Owner’s Name

Item 9. Pending Lawsuits Filed Against You or Your Spouse

List all pending lawsuits that have been filed against you or your spouse in court or before an administrative agency.
(List lawsuits that resulted in final judgments or settlements in Items 16 and 25).

Oppbsing Pérty’s Name & Address

Court’s Name & Address

Docket No. Relief Requested

Nature of Lawsuit

Statqs

Item 10. Safe Deposit Boxes

List all safe deposit boxes, located within the United StateS or elsewhere, held by you, your spouse, or any of your
dependents, or held by others for the benefit of you, your spouse, or any of your dependents. On a separate page,
describe the contents of each box. ’ R )

Name & Address of Depository Institution " Box No.

Item 11. ‘Business Interests

List all businesses for which you, your spouse, or your dependents are an officer or director.

»Business’ Name & Address - - -

Business Format (e.g., corp(;ration) " Description of Business
| | ‘ Position(s) Held, and By Whom '

»Business’ Name & Address -

Business Format (e.g., corporation) Desctiptiqn of Business

Position(s) Held, and By Whom

»Business’ Name & Address

Business Format (e.g., corporation) Descﬁpﬁon of Business

Posiﬁon(s) Held, and By Whom
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION: ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

REMINDER: “Assets” and “Liabilities” include ALL assets and liabilities, located within the United States or
elsewhere, whether held individually or jointly.

Item 12. Cash, Bank, and Money Market Accounts
List cash and all bank and money market accounts, including but not limited to, checking accounts, savings accounts, and

certificates of deposit, held by you, your spouse, or your dependents, or held by others for the benefit of you, your
spouse, or your dependents. The term “cash” includes currency and uncashed checks. -

Cash on Hand § ’ | Cash ﬁeld For Your Benefit $
Name on Account . Name & Address (;f Financial Institution Account No. Current
: ' ' Balance
.
$
$
s
$
: $
Item 13. ~ U.S. Government Securities |

List all U.S. Government secﬁrities, including buf not limited to, savings bonds,. treasury bills, and treasury notes, held by
you, your spouse, or your dependents, or held by others for the benefit of you, your spouse, or your dependents.

Name oﬂ Account _ - Type of Obligation - ‘éecurig Amount. Matun"gz Date
_ o _ .
$
$
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Item 14. Publicly Traded Securities and Loans Secured by Them

List all publicly traded securities,’ includiﬁg but not limited to, stocks, stock options, registered and bearer bonds, state
and municipal bonds, and mutual funds, held by you, your spouse, or your dependents, or held by others for the benefit of
you, your spouse, or your dependents. ' : .

»Issuer e Type of Security. No. of Units Owned | _
Name on Security | Current Fair Market Value $ " Loan(s) Against Security $

\Broker House, Address ' | ' ' ' Broker Account No.

»Issuer _ . ; » :Type of Security | No. of Units Owned

Name on Security B Current Fair Market Value § Loan(s) Against Security $
_ Brokéf House, Address ' .' Broker Account No.

Item1S. 'Otl;‘er Business Interests

List all other business interests, including but not limited to, non-public corporations, subchapter-S corporations, limited
liability corporations (“LLCs”), general or limited partnership interests, joint ventures, sole proprietorships, and oil and
mineral leases, held by you, your spouse, or your dependents, ot held by others for the benefit of you, your spouse, or
your dependents. o SR

»Business Format C | A L Business’ Name & Address
Ownership %

Owner (e.g., self; spouse) :  Current Fair Market Value $
>Business Format L Business’ Name & Address | :

: Ownetshlp %
Owner (e.g., self, spouse) | 'C’m'rent Fair Market Value $
I!g;ll_l_ﬁa , . Moﬁetary Jndgmenis or Setfléments Owed to You, Your Spdusé; or Your Dependents L
List all monetary judgments or settiements owed to you, your spouse, or your dependents.
»Opposing Party’s Name & Address | |
Court’s Name & Address : | v | Docket No.
Nature of Lawsuit___ ' _ Daté of Judgment _ Amount $ _
»Opposing Party’s Name & Address |
Court’s Name & Address | ' | Docket No.
Nature of Lawsuit ' | Daté of Judgment Amount §
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item 17. Other Amounts Owed to You, Your Spouse, or Your Dependents

List all other amounts owed to yoﬁ,;your spouse, or your dependents..

Debtor’s Name, Address, & Telephone No.

Original Amount Owed § " Current Amount Owed §__ _Monthly Payment $
Item 18. Life Insurance Policies

List al} life insurance pblicies held by you, your spouse, or your depex;dents.

»Insurance Company’s Na:me, Address, & Telephone No.

Insured . ‘Beneficiary ___ v Face Value $

Policy No. ‘ Loans Against Policy $ Surrender Value $ ,

»Insurance Company’s Name, Adress, & Telephone No.

Insured ' _ Beneficiary . ' _Face Value §
Policy No. Loans Against Policy $ ' Surrender Value $
Item19. Deferred Income ArrangementsA '

List all deferred income arrangements, including but not limited to, deferred annuities, pensions plans, proﬁt-sharing :
plans, 401(k) plans, IRAs, Keoghs, and other retirement accounts, held by you, your spouse, or your dependents, or held
by others for the benefit of you, your spouse, or your dependents. ,

»Name on Account v Type of Plan _ ' Date Established

Trustee or Administrator’s Name, Address & Telephone No.

" Account No. ' : Surrender Value §

»Name on Account | ’ Type of Plan Date Established

Trustee or Administrator’s Name, Address & Telephone No.

5

Account No. ' Surrender Value $
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| Item 20. Personal Property

List all personal property, by category, whether held for personal use or for investment, including but not limited to,
furniture and household goods of value, computer equipment, electronics, coins, stamps; artwork, gemstones, jewelry,
bullion, other collectibles, copyrights, patents, and other intellectual property, held by you, your spouse, or your
dependents, or held by others for the benefit of you, your spouse, or your dependents. '

Property Catogory Name of Owner Property Location  Acquisition  Current
(e.g., artwork, jewelry)- | ) . ' v Cost Value
_ | $ $
$ | $
~$ $
$_- $
$.__ $
- $ k' $
Item 21. Cars, Trucks, Motorcycles, Boats, Airplanes, ahd Other Vehicles

List all cars, trucks, motorcycles, boats, airplanes, and other vehicles owned or operated by you, your spouse, or your
dependents, or held by others for the benefit of you, your spouse, or your dependents.

»Vehicle Type . Make ' ’ ‘ Model - ' Year :

Registered Owner’s Name __ : . Registration State & No.

Address of Vehicle’s Location

Purchase Price § __Current Value § | Apco@ﬁLom No.

Lender’s Name and Address | .

Original Loan Amount $ | Current Loan Balance $ Monthly Payment §
>Vehic1e Type Make | - | Model _ - Year
’Registered Owner’s Name . ” Registration State & No. |

Address of Vehicle’s Locaﬁm | |

Purchase Price$__ Current Value $ Account/Loan No.

Lender’s Name and Address v -

Original Loan Amount $ 3 ___Current Loan Balance $ Monthly Payrhént $
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Ttem 21. Continued

»Vehicle Type ’ " Make | Model Year

Registered Owner’s Name Registration State & No.

Address of Vehicle’s Location

Purchase Price $ ‘ B Current Value $ Account/Loa_n No.

Lender’s Name and Address

Ongmal Loan Amount § - - Current Loan Balance § Monthly Payment $_

Item22. . Real Property .

List all real estate held by you, your spouse, or your dependents, or held by others for the benefit of you, your spouse, or
your dependents. .

»Type of Property | ' Property’s Location

Name(s) on Title and Ownershp Percentages

Acqulsxtlon Date Purchase Pnce S | Current Valge $

Basis of Valuation - - Loan or Account No.

Lender’s Name and Address | ‘

Current Balance On First Mortgage $ _____Monthly Payment 5 _

Other Loap(s) (deécribe)‘ N : _ Current Balance S
Monthly Payment $ - Rental Unit? _ Monthly Rent Received §
»Type of Propefty | , Property’s iocation |

Name(s) on Title and Ownership Percenfagés

Acqﬁisition Date ___ Purchase Price $ L Current Value §

| Bﬁsis of Valuétioﬁ | - o Loan or Account No._

Lender’s Name and Address /

Current Balance On First Mortgage $_ ‘ Monthly Payment $
 Other Loan(s) (describe) | A - | ' | Current Balance $
Monthly Payment $ Rental Unit?__~ -, Monthly Rent Received $
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Item 23. Credit Cards

List each credit card held by you, your spouse, or your dependents. Also list any other credit cards that you, your spouse,
or your dependents use.- ‘ '

Name of Credit Card (e.g., Visa, Account No. Name(s Current ~ Minimum_
MasterCard, Department Store) Account Balance Monthly Payment
| | | s 5
$ $
5 $
$ | $
$ $
$ $
E&l.!_l_Zi Taxes Payable

List all taxes, such as income taxes or real estate taxes, owed by you, your spouse, or your dependants.

Typeof Tax . L Amount Owed " Year Incuired
8. |
$
g
$
Itexh 25. = Judgments or Settleménts Owed

List all judgments or settlements owed by you, yoixr spouse, or your dependents.

- Opposing Party’s Name & Address
Court’s Name & Address - . Docket No.
Nature of Lawsuit | » _ Date Amount $
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Ttem 26. Other Loans and Liabilities

 List all other loans or liabilities in ybui-, your spouse's, Or your dependents’ names.

. »Néme & Address of Lender/Creditor

Nature of Liability, Name(s) on Liability
Date of Liability : Amount Borrowed § Current Balance $
Payment Amount $ . Frequency of Payment
»Name & Address of Lender/Creditor
Nature of Liability_ " Name(s) on Liability_
Date of Liability ' A Amount Borrowed $ . Current Balance $__
Payment Amount$__ ___ Frequencyof Payment .
' OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item27. = TaxReturns

List all federal tax returns that were filed during the last three years by or on behalf of you, your spouse, or your
dependents. Provide a copy of each signed tax return that was filed during the last three years. - :

Tax Year ) Name(s) on Return ' Refund Expected
$
_$
$
" Ttem 28. Applications for Credit

List all applications for bank loans or other extensions of credit that you, your spouse, or your dependents have submitted
within the last two years. Provide a copy of each application, including all attachments. \

Name(s) on Application Name & Address of Lender
Initials
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Item 29, Trusts and Escrows
List all funds or other assets that are being held in trust or escrow by any person or entity for you, your spouse, or your

dependents. Also list all funds or other assets that are being held in trust or escrow by you, your spouse, or your
dependents, for any person or entity. Provide copies of all executed trust documents.

Trustee or Escrow Agent’s Date Grantor Beneficiaries Present Market

 Name & Address Established Value of Assets
| | $
$
. :
$
$ .
Item 30. . Transfers of Assets

List each person to whom you have transferred, in the éggregate, more than $2,500 in funds or other assets during the
previous three years by loan, gift, sale, or other transfer. For each such person, state the total amount transferred during
that period.. .

- Transferee’s Name, Address, &.Relationshig Property | " Apgregate _'I_’r_anﬁk Type of Transfer
» ' Transferred Yalue Date (eg.. Log& Gift)
$
. .
$
$
$
$
$
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- SUMMARY FINANCIAL SCHEDULES

[P
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Item 31. - Combmed Balance Sheet for You, Your Spouse, and Your Dependents
A ASSETS - v . LIABILITIES
Cash on Hand ' : : * Credit Cards
(Ttem 12) $ (Ttem 23)
.Cash in Financial Institutions ' Motor Vehicles - Liens
(Item 12) $ (tem 21)
U.S. Government Securities : | Real Property - Encumbrances
(Item 13) $ (Ttem 22)
Publicly Traded Securities : Loans Against Pubhcly Traded Securities
- (item 14) $ (Ttem 14)
Other Business Interests ' R Taxes Payable
(Item 15) $ 7 (Item 24)
Judgments or Settlements'Owed - Judgments or Settlements Owed
to You (Item 16) $ - (Item 25) 4
- Other Amounts Owed to You - ‘ Other Loans and Liabilities
(ttem 17) 5 (item 26)
Surrender Value of Life Insurance - ‘ -
. (ltem 18) | $ Other Liabilities (Itemize)
Deferred Income Arrangements
(Item 19) $
Personal Property ' -
(Item 20) $ ‘
. Motor Vehicles ,
(Item 21) $ X
Real Property '
(Item 22) $ -
© Other Assets (Itemize) | | .
s
g | v
$__
$ -
Total Assets $ Total Liabilities s
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Item 32. Combined Average Monthly Income and Expenses for You, Your Spouse, and Your Dependents

for the Last 6 Months

Provide the average monthly income and expenses for you, your Spouse, and your dependents for the last 6 months. Do
ot include credit card payments separately; rather, include credit card expenditures in the appropriate categories.

INCOME

Page 15
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EXPENSES
Salary - After Taxes . $ ‘ Mortgage Payments for Residence(s) $
Fees, Commissions, and Royalties $§___ fropcrty Taxes for Residence(s) | $
Rental Property Expenses, Including |
Interest $ Mortgage Payments, Taxes, and Insurance $
S S " Car or Other Vehicle Lease or Loan
_ Dividends and Capital Gains $ ‘ Payments . $
Gross Rental Income | Food Expenses $
Profits from Sole Proprietorships ~ $__ Clothing Expenses $
Distributions from Partnerships, B o '
S-Corporations, and LLCs $. B Utilities - $
 Distributions from Trusts and , ' : ' _
. Estates » ~ : 3 Medical Expenses, Including Insurance $
Distributions from Deferred : ' . '
Income Arrangements $ B Other Insurance Premiums $
Social Security Payments $ - Other Transportation Expenses
Alimony/Child Support Rccéived $ . - Other Household Expenses o
Gambling Income $ Other Expenses (Itemize)
Other Income (ltemize) $
$_ $
$ $
$ $
" Total Income $ : Total Expenses s __




v
[

ATTACHMENT

Item33.  Documents Attached to this Financial Statement

List all documents that are being submitted with this financial statement.

Ttem No. Document ' . Description of Document
Relates To :

‘ I am submitting this financial statement with the understanding that it may affect action by the Federal Trade
Commission or a federal court. I have used my best efforts to obtain the information requested in this statement.. The
responses I have provided to the items above are true and contain all the requested facts and information of which I have
notice or knowledge. Ihave provided all requested documents in my custody, possession, or control. Iknow of the

" penalties for false statements under 18 U.S.C. § 1001, 18 U.S.C. § 1621, and 18 U.S.C. § 1623 (five years imprisonment
and/or fines). I certify under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States that the foregoing is true and correct.

Executed on:

(Date) : ‘ _ _ Signature .
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Temporary Restraining Order
Federal Trade Commission vs. Certified Merchant Servxces, Ltd,etal .
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FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION

FINANCIAL STATEMENT OF CORPORATE DEFENDANT

_ Instructions:

1. .Complete all items. Enter “None” or "N/A" (“Not Applicable”) where appropriate. If you cannot fully answer a
question, explain why. s | o

2. " In completing this financial statement, “the corporation” refers not only to this corporation but also to each of its
predecessors that are not named defendants in this action. f

3. ‘When an Item asks for infbﬁnation abouf assets or liabilities “held by tﬁ: corporation,” include ALL such assets
and liabilities, located within the United States or elsewhere, held by the corporation or held by others for the
benefit of the corporation. , : ‘

4, Attach continuation pages as needed. On the ﬁn’ancial.statemént, state next to the ltem number that the Item is
being continued. On the continuation page(s), identify the Item number being continued.

5. Type or print legibly.

6. An officer- of the corporation must sign and date the completed financial statement on the last page and initial
each page in the space provided in the lower right corner. .

Penalty for False Information: '

Federal law provides that any person may be imprisoned' for not more than five years; fined, or both, if such person:

(1) “in any matter within the jurisdiction of any department or agency of the United States ‘knowingly and
willfully falsifies, conceals or covers up by any trick, scheme, or device a material fact, or makes any false,
fictitious or fraudulent statements or representations, or makes or uses any false writing or document knowing the
same to contain any false, fictitious or fraudulent statement or entry” (18 U.S.C. § 1001);

~(2)“inany... statement under penalty of perjury as permitted under section 1746 of title 28, United States Code,
willfully subscribes as true any material matter which he does not believe to be true” (18 US.C. § 1621); or

(3) “in any (. . . statement under penalty of perjury as permitted under section 1746 of title 28, United States
Code) in any proceeding before or ancillary to any court or grand jury of the United States knowingly makes any
- false material declaration or makes or uses any other information . . . knowing the same to contain any false

material declaration.” (18 U.S.C. § 1623) ,
For a felony conviction under the provisions cited above; federal law provides that the fine may be not more than .the
greater of (i) $250,000 for an individual or $500,000 for a corporation, or (ii) if the felony results in pecuniary gain to any
person or pecuniary loss to any person other than the defendant, the greater of twice the gross gain or twice the gross loss.

18 U.S.C. § 3571. -




- BACKGROUND INFORMATION

Item 1. General Infofmation

Corporation’s Full Name

 Primary Business Address ' _From (Date)

TelephoneNo.._ Fax No.

~ E-Mail Address ) - Internet Home Page

All other current addressés & preﬁous addresses for past five yéars, inchiding post office boxes and mail drops:

Address | , . . " From/Until
Address RN | _ From/Until_
Address - - From/Until

All predecessor companies for past five years:

- Name & Address | | _ ' From/Until
Name & Address ____ o ___ From/Until
Naine & Address - _ B " From/Untl
Ttem 2. Legal Information
Federal Taxpayer IDNo. ___ __ state & Date of Incorporation
State Tax ID No; - __State ' ___Profit or Not For Profit _
Corporation’s Present Status: Active ' | Iné_ctive ' : Dissolved -
If Dissolved: Date dissolved ___ By Whom_

Reaéon.s ‘ | |

Fiscal Year-End (Mo./Day) Corporation’s Business Activities

Item 3. Registered Agent

Name of Registered Agent

Address 5 o - ’ Telephone No.

Page 2 . ’ ‘Initials
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Item 4. Principal Stockl(mlders

List all persons and entities that own at least 5% of the corporation’s stock.

Name & Address - o % Owned

Item 5. Board Members

List all members of the corporatiox‘i’s Board of Directors.

Name & Address Y% OWned' Term (From/Until

Item 6. Officers

vList all of the corporation’s officers, including de facto officers (individuals with significant management responsibility -
whose titles do not reflect the nature of their positions). _

Name & Address . % Owned
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Item 7. Businesses Related to the Corporation

Listall corporations, partnerships, and other business entities in which this corporation has an ownership interest.

Name & Address _ Business Activities % Owned

State which of these businesses, if any, has ever transacted business with the corporation

Item 8. Businesses Related to Individuals
" List all corporations, partnerships, and other business entities in which the corporation’s principal stockholders, board
members, or officers (i.e., the individuals listed in Items 4 - 6 above) have an pwners}ﬁp interest. E

Individual’s Name " Business Name & Address - Business Activities % Owned

State which of these businesses, if any, have ever transacted business with the corporation

Item9.  Related Individuals

List all related individuals with whom the corporation has had any business transactions during the three previous fiscal
years and current fiscal year-to-date. A “related individual” is a spouse, sibling, parent, or child of the principal
stockholders, board members, and officers (ie., the individuals listed in Items 4.‘- 6 above).

Name and Addréss : Relationship ‘Business Activities ~

Initials
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Item 10. Outside Accmmtants

Lxst all outside accountants retamed by the corporation durmg the last three years

Name Firm Name ’ Address CPA/PA?
Item 11. .Corporation’s Recordkeepmg .

List all individuals within the corporation with responsxblhty for keepmg the corporahon s financial books and records

for the last three years.
Name, Address &.Tel hone Numbér Position(s) Held
Hem12. Attorneys .
List all attorneys retained by the corporation during the last three years.

2
(2]

B - “Name o . Firm Name
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Item 13. Pending Lawsuits Filed by the Corporation.

List all pending lawsuits that have been filed by the corporation in court or before an administrative agency. (List
lawsuits that resulted in final judgments or settlements in favor of the corporation in Item 25).

Opposing Party’s Name & Address_

Court’s Name & Address
Docket No. Relief Requested ' Nature of Lawsuit
‘ | | Status
Opposing Party’s Name & Address
Court’s Name & Address__ _
Doci(et No. «__Relief Reﬁuested _ Nature of Lawsuit
‘,  Sums |
Opposing Pa.rty"s Name & Address
Court’s Name & Address__
Docket No. _ Relief Requested_ - ____Nature of Lawsuit
| | Status |
Opposing Party’s Name & Address |
Court’s Name & Address
Docket No. Relief Reqtiested Nature of Lawsuit
- Status |
Opposing Partyfs Name & Address .
Court’s Name & Address
bockef No.  Relief Réqueéted _ Nature of Lawsuit
__Status
Opposing Party’s Name & Address
Court’s Name & Address____ iy | ; )
Dockst No. ’ Relief Requested I _Nature of Lawsuit
| Status
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Item 14, Current Lawsuits Filed Against the Corporation

List all pending lawsuits that have been filed against the corporation in court or before an administrative agency. (List
lawsuits that resulted in final judgments, settlements, or orders in Items 26 - 27).

Opposing Party’s Name &_ Address
 Court’s Name & Address
Docket No. ' _‘ .Relief Req\iested L Nature of Lawsuit
| Status___
Opposing Party’s Name & Address
Court’s Name & Address
Docket No. - Relief Requested - Naﬁnre of LaWsuit
A | . Status |
bpposing Paﬁy’s Name & Address |
C;‘oux;t;s,Naxne & Address '
Docket No,___ - Relief Roquested____ __ Nature of Lawsuit_
| _ . _ o .
Opposing Party’s Name & Address
Court’s Name & Address
Docket No. Relief Réquested ' Nature of Lawsuit
| | Status
bpposing Party’s Name & Address
, Court’s; Name & Address__
DocketNo___ Relicf Requested___ | Nature of Lawsuit_
| | Statﬁs | |
Opposing Party’s Name & Address
| Court’s Name & Address
| Docket No. L Rélief Requested | - Nature of Lawsmt
Status
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Item 15, Bankruptcy Information

List all state insolvency and federal bankruptcy proceedings involving the corporation.

Commencement Date ‘ ' Termination Date | ' Docket No.
If State Court: Court & County - __If Federal Court: District |
Disposition

Item 16. Safe Deposit Boxes

List all safe deposit boxes, located within the United States or elsewhere, held by the dorporation, or held by others for
the benefit of the corporation. On a separate page, describe the contents of each box. ' :

Owner’s Name - Name & Address of Depository Institution | ' S ' ’ ‘ Box No.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION

REMINDER: When an Item asks for information about assets or abilities “held by the corporation,” include

 ALL such assets and liabilities, located within the United States or elsewhere, held by the corporation or held by

others for the benefit of the corporation. :
Item 17. . Tax Returns

List all federal and state cofpdfate tax returns filed for the last three complété fiscal years. Attach copies of all returns.

Federsl  TaxYear TaxDue TaxPeid IaxDuc  TaxPaid Preparer’s Name
| s s s s

s s s s

s $ s s
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" Item18. Financial Stategne’nts

List all financial statements that were prepared for the corporation’s last three complete fiscal years and for the current
fiscal year-to-date. Attach copies of all statements, providing audited statements if available.

Year  Balance Sheet Profit & Loss Statement ‘Cash Flow Sfatement Changes in Owner’s Equity Audited? -

" Item19.  Financial Summary

- For each of the last three cbmpleté fiscal years and for the current fiscal year-to-date for which the corporation has not
~ provided a profit and loss statement in accordance with Ttem 17 above, provide the following summary financial
_information. . : ..

| Current Year-to-Date ‘ 1 Year Ago. 2 Years Ago 3 Yearé Ago
- Gross Revenue $ $ ‘ $ | $
~ Expenses B s $ $
Net Profit After Taxes $ : $ $ $
Payables $
Receivables 3 . L
Item 20. Cash, Bank, and Money Market Accounts

List cash and all bank and money market accounts, including but not limited to, checking accounts, savings accounts, and
certificates of deposit, held by the corporation. The term “cash” includes currency and uncashed checks.

Cash on Hand § - Cash Held for the Corporation’s Benefit $
Name & Address of Financial'lnstitution ‘Sig;;at()r(s) on Account - Account No. ~ Current
’ ’ . : Balance
$
$ .
$
$
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" Type of Property_ - ' Property’s Location __

Name(s) on Title and Ownership Percentages

* 'Name(s) on Title and Ownership Percentages
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Item 21. Government Obligations and Publicly Traded Securities

Listall U.S. Govemfnent obligations, including but not limited to, savings bonds, treasury bills, or treasury notes, held by
the corporation. Also list all publicly traded securities, including but not limited to, stocks, stock options, registered and
bearer bonds, state and municipal bonds, and mutual funds, held by the corporation.

Issuer ' Type of Security/Obligation

No. of Units Owned " Current Fair Market Value § _ Maturity Date

Issuer | | . Type of Security/Obligation _

No. of Units Owned Cutrent Fair Market Value § ' Maturity Date
"Item22.  Real Estate

List all real estate, inéluding leéseholds in excess of five years, held by the corporation.

Current Value $ : . Loan or Account No.

. Lender’s Name and Address.
Current Balance On First Mortgage $ Monthly Payment $
Other Loan(s) (describe)_ ~ - Current Balance $
Monthly Paymeﬁf $ » - Rental Unit? Monthly Rent Repeiyed $ |
Type of Property | SR Property-’s Location

Current Value §___ _ Loanor Accoun't No.
Lender’g Name and Addresg |
" Current Balance On First Mqrtgagé $ | Monthly Payment $
Other Loan(s) (descrﬂ')e)’ c ' : ‘ . . Cun'en;c Balance §
Mdnthly Payment$____ Rental Unit? Monthly Rent Rgceived $
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Item 23. Other Assets

List all other prop_erty, by category, with an estimated value of $2,500 or more, held by the corporation, including but not

limited to, inventory, machinery, equipment, furniture, vehicles,

customer lists, computer software, patents, and other

| intellectual property.

Progm‘ Categog Property Location Acquisition - _(;u_u_egg
Cost Valne

$ $

$ $

$ $

$ $

s s

$ $

$ $

$ $

$ $

Item 24. Trusts and Escrows

List all persons and other entities holding funds or other assets

- -

that are in escrow or in trust for the corporation.

Trustee or Escrow Agent’s Deséripﬁon and Location of Assets Present Market
Name & Address o Value of Assets
$
$
. $
$
g
$
$
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Item 25. Monetary Judgments and Settlements Owed To the Corporation

List all monetary jﬁdgments and settlements, recorded and unrecorded, owed to the corperation.

 Opposing Party’s Name & Address
Court’s Name & Address | S , Docket No.
Nature of I;awsuit | ’ Date of Judgment Amount $
Opposing Party’e Name & Address - |
Court’s Name & Address ' _ | Docket No.
Nature of Lawsuit » | Date of Judgment Amount $_
Item 26. ' Monetary Judgnient‘s aﬂd Settlements Owed By the Corporaﬁon

List all monetary judgments and settlements,. recorded and unrecorded, owed by the corporation.

Opposing Party’s Name & Address
- Court’s Neme & Address | Docket No,
Nature of Lawsuit | , » ‘ ' Date . Aﬁlount $
Opposing Party’s Namé & Address 4
Court’s Name & Address . ’ ' : Doeleet No.
N#f:ure of Lawsuit ‘- Date of Jedgnient | _Amount§___
Opposing Party’s Name & Address |
“Court’s Name & Address : | : Dor_.:ket No.
Nature of Lawsuit - | o Date of Judgfnent Amount $
Opposing Partj’s Name & Address | |
Court’s Name & Address . N . | | \Docket No.
Nature of Lawsuit " Dateof] udgment___ - Arﬁount $___ (
Opposing Party’s Name & Address ; | :
‘Court’s Name & Address _ . - v ____ Docket No.
’ Nature of Lawsuit | . | Date of Jngmerit ‘ Amount $
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Ttem 27. Government Orders and Settlements

List all existing orders and settlements between the corporation and any federal or state government entities.

Name of Agency Contact Person

Address : ) ' Telephone No.
Agreement Date __ | Nature of Agreement

Item 28. ~ Credit Cards

List all of the corporation’s credit cards and store charge accounts and the individuals authorized to use them.

Name of Credit Card or Store ~ Names of Authorized Users and Positions Held

Item 29. Compensatimi of Employees

List all compensation and other benefits received from the corporation by the five most highly compensated employees,
independent contractors, and consultants (other than those individuals listed in Items 5 and 6 above), for the two previous
fiscal years and current fiscal year-to-date. “Compensation” ‘includes, but is not limited to, salaries, commissions,
consulting fees, bonuses, dividends, distributions, royalties, pensions, and profit sharing plans. “Other benefits” include,
but are not limited to, loans, loan payments, rent, car payments, and insurance premiums, whether paid directly to the
individuals, or paid to others on their behalf. R

Nam'e/Position- - Current Fiscal 1Year Ago 2 Years Ago | : Compensation or
' Year-to-Date o Type of Benefits

$ $ $

$ $_ $

$ $ $

$__ $

: 5. $
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Item 30. Compensation of Board Members and Officers

List all compensation and other benefits received from the corporation by each person listed in Items 5 and 6, for the

current fiscal year-to-date and the two previous fiscal years. “Compensatl ” includes, but is not limited to, salaries,

commissions, consulting fees, dividends, distributions, royalties, pensions, and profit sharing plans. “Other benefits”

include, but are not limited to, loans, loan payments, rent, car payments, and insurance premiums, whether paid directly
" to the individuals, or paid to others on their behalf. :

- Name/Position Current Fiscal 1 Year Ago 2 YearsAgo Compensation or
: Year-to-Date ' | Imo_ﬂBM
$ $ $
$_ $ $
$ $ $
8. $ $
$ $ $
$. $ $
$ $ $
5_ $ $ .
~Item 31. Transfers of Assets Including Cash and Property

List all transfers of assets over $2 500 made by the corporatlon, other than in the ordmary course of business, dunng the
previous three years, by loan, gift, sale, or other transfer.

‘ Transferee’s Name, Address, & Relationship Property Aggregate Transfer =~ Type of Transfer

Transferred | Value Date (e.g.. Loan, Gift)
5
5
$
$ ;
$
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Ttem 32. Documents Attached fo the Financial Statement

List all documents that are being submitted with the financial statement.

Item No. Docinnent . Description of Document
Relates To

I am submitting this financial statement with the understanding that it may affect action by the Federal Trade
Commission or a federal court. I have used my best efforts to obtain the information requested in this statement. The
responses I have provided to the items above are true and contain all the requested facts and information of which I'have
notice or knowledge. Ihave provided all requested documents in my custody, possession, or control. I’know of the
penalties for false statements under 18 U.S.C. § 1001, 18 U.S.C. § 1621, and 18 U.S.C. § 1623 (five years imprisonment
and/or fines). I certify under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States that the foregoing is true and correct.

Executed oﬁ:

(Date) S ' Signature

| Corporate Position
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ATTACHMENT C
Temporary Restraining Order
Federal Trade Commission vs. Certified Merchant Serv1ces, Ltd, et al
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CONSENT TO RELEASE OF FINAN CIAL RECORDS

L ’ B ,of the State of m the United

' States of Amenca, do hereby direct any bank or trust company at which I have an account of any

kmd or at which a corporanon has an account of any kmd upon which I am authonzed to draw
and 1ts officers, employees and agents, to disclose all information and dehver copies of all
documents of every nature in your possession or control, which relate to said accounts, to any

attorney of the Federal Trade Commission, and to glve evidence relevant thereto, in the matter of

Federal Trade Commission v. Certified Merchant Services, Ltd., et al., now pending in the

United States District Court for the Eastern District of Texas, and this shall be 1rrevocable

authority for so domg This direction has been executed pursuant to a certain.order of the Umted _

States District Court for the Eastern District of Texas in connection with that aforementioned

- matter. This direction is mtended to apply to the laws of countries other than the United States

whlch restrict or proh1b1t the d1sclosure of bank information without the consent of the ‘holder or

beneﬁmal owner of the account, and shall be construed as consent with respect thereto, and the

same shall apply to any of the bank accounts for which I may be a relevant principal.

Dated: - , 2002,

At remaraaertL,



